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Via Electronic Mail
March 25, 2025

Mr. John Flynn

Chief Executive Officer

City of San José

Department of Retirement Services
1737 North 1% Street, Suite 580
San José, CA 95112

Re: City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan and Postemployment
Healthcare Plan Contribution Rates and Amounts for FYE 2025

Dear John:

The purpose of this letter is to provide the Board with the contribution rates and amounts for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2026 based on the June 30, 2024 actuarial valuations. Contributions
are structured as a normal cost (representing the benefits attributed to the current year of service),
plus administrative expenses, plus a payment on the Unfunded Actuarial Liability (UAL). Member
contributions are administered as a contribution rate that is applied to pensionable compensation
each pay period. Based on the Board’s policy, some City contributions are administered as a
contribution rate with a minimum dollar amount based on expected payroll and some are
administered as a contribution amount that does not vary based on actual payroll. The table below
summarizes the basis for City contributions.

City Contribution Type Contribution Basis

Pension
Tier 1 Normal Cost Rate of Pay with Minimum Dollar Amount
Tier 1 Administrative Expenses Rate of Pay with Minimum Dollar Amount
Tier 1 UAL Dollar Amount
Tier 2 Rate of Pay

OPEB Dollar Amount

The City elected to prepay its Tier 1 Pension contributions and OPEB contributions at the
beginning of the year. Those prepayment amounts are shown in this letter.

Member Contribution Rates

The table on the following page provides the member contribution rates for each rate group.
Separate rates are provided for the Retirement Fund and the COLA Fund, for Fire and Police, and
for Tier 1 and Tier 2. In addition to the rates shown for all Tier 1 members, certain Tier 1 members
pay an additional rate due to the reclassification of members under Measure F.
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Fiscal Year Ending 2026 Member Contribution Rates

Fire Police
Retirement COLA Total Retirement COLA
Tier 1
All Members 8.16% 3.84% 12.00% 7.08% 3.31% 10.39%

Additional Reclassified Rates

Rehires 1.04% 0.92% 1.96% 1.04% 0.92% 1.96%

Fed Service 0.22% 0.65% 0.87% 0.22% 0.65% 0.87%

Classic 0.06% 0.06% 0.12% 0.06% 0.06% 0.12%
Tier 2

All Members 11.81% 3.20% 15.01% 10.64% 2.91% 13.55%

City Pension Contributions

The Tier 1 City contributions for normal cost and administrative expenses are shown in the table
on the next page both as a rate to be applied to Tier 1 pensionable payroll and a minimum dollar
amount. The Tier 1 UAL payment does not depend on payroll, so it is only shown as a dollar
amount. The Tier 2 City contribution rate is separated into the normal cost rate, administrative
expense rate, and the UAL rate. The dollar amount shown on the next page for the total Tier 2 rate
is the estimated amount that will be collected by applying the rate to actual Tier 2 pensionable
payroll during the year.
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Fiscal Year Ending 2026 City Contributions
Contributions Throughout the Year

Fire Police
Retirement COLA Total Retirement COLA Total
Tier 1l
21.93% 10.30% 32.23% 19.61% 9.06% 28.67%
Normal Cost
$ 14137550 $ 6,641,449 $ 20778999 $ 13,271,202 $ 6136577 $ 19,407,779
3.17% 2.41% 5.58% 3.62% 2.90% 6.52%

Admin Expenses
$ 2042119 $ 1558821 $ 3600940 $ 2447381 $ 1963317 $ 4,410,698

UAL Payment $ 5557547 $ 4544722 $ 10,102,269 $ 78,829,792 $ 64,411,036 $ 143,240,828

Total Tier 1 $21,737,216 $12,744992 $34,482,208 $ 94,548,375 $72,510,930 $167,059,305

Tier 2

Normal Cost 11.81% 3.20% 15.01% 10.64% 2.91% 13.55%
Admin Expenses 0.07% 0.02% 0.09% 0.08% 0.02% 0.10%
UAL Payment 007%  002%  -0.09% 0.08%  -002%  -0.10%
. 11.81% 3.20% 15.01% 10.64% 2.91% 13.55%

Total Tier 2
$ 5589842 $ 1514606 $ 7,104,448 $ 12,173,474 $ 3,329,399 $ 15,502,873
24.44% 12.75% 37.19% 58.61% 41.65% 100.26%

Grand Total

$27,327,058 $14,259598 $41586,656 $106,721,849 $75840,329 $182,562,178

The estimated FYE 2026 payroll for each group is shown in the following table. This expected
payroll was used to develop the minimum amounts for the Tier 1 City normal cost and
administrative expense contributions and the estimated amount of Tier 2 contributions.

Fiscal Year 2025-26 Expected Payroll

Fire Police Total
Tier 1 $ 64,480,079 $ 67,685,098 $ 132,165,177
Tier 2 47,331,434 114,412,350 161,743,784

Total $ 111,811,513 $ 182,097,448 $ 293,908,961

We understand the City intends to make its Tier 1 pension contribution at the beginning of the
fiscal year. The table on the following page shows the total amount to be contributed for Tier 1,
assuming contributions are paid as a lump sum on July 1, 2025, discounted using 85 percent of the
June 30, 2024 valuation discount rate of 6.625% (5.6313%).
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Fiscal Year Ending 2026 Estimated City Pension Contribution Amounts
Tier 1 Contributions at the Beginning of the Year

Fire POIice
Retirement COLA Total Retirement COLA

Contribution at the Beginning of the Year
Tier 1 Pension
Normal Cost $ 13755549 $ 6,461,995 $ 20217544 $ 12912611 $ 5970765 $ 18,883,376

Admin Expenses 1,986,940 1,516,702 3,503,642 2,381,252 1,910,268 4,291,520
UAL 5,407,381 4,421,922 9,829,303 76,699,789 62,670,632 139,370,421
Total $ 21,149,870 $ 12,400,619 $ 33,550,489 $ 91,993,652 $ 70,551,665 $ 162,545,317

City OPEB Contribution Amounts

Member contributions to the OPEB plans are fixed in the San José Municipal Code at 8.0% of pay,
so they are not addressed in this letter. City contributions are only determined as a dollar amount
and not as a rate of pay.

We understand the City intends to prepay its contribution for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2026. The table below shows the total amount to be contributed to the 115 Trust assuming
contributions are paid as a lump sum on July 1, 2025 discounted using 85 percent of the June 30,
2024 valuation discount rate of 6.00%. In addition, the City pays the implicit subsidy as a part of
its active employee medical premiums.

Fiscal Year Ending 2026 City OPEB Contribution Amounts

Lump Sum Payment at Beginning of Year

Fire $ 12,327,976
Police 18,937,893
Total $ 31,265,869

The figures in the above exhibits reflect the results of the June 30, 2024 Actuarial Valuations of
the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retiree Medical and Dental Insurance Plan and
the City of San José Police and Fire Department Retirement Plan. We refer you to the full valuation
reports for a description of the data, assumptions, methodology, and plan provisions applicable to
these calculations.
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Disclosures

This letter has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and accepted actuarial
principles and practices and our understanding of the Code of Professional Conduct and applicable
Actuarial Standards of Practice set out by the Actuarial Standards Board as well as applicable laws
and regulations. Furthermore, as credentialed actuaries, we collectively meet the Qualification
Standards of the American Academy of Actuaries to render the opinion contained in this letter.
This letter does not address any contractual or legal issues. We are not attorneys, and our firm does
not provide any legal services or advice.

This letter was prepared exclusively for the Board of Administration of the City of San José Police
and Fire Department Retirement Plan for the purpose described herein. Other users of this letter
are not intended users as defined in the Actuarial Standards of Practice, and Cheiron assumes no
duty or liability to any other user.

If you have any questions or would like to discuss these calculations, please call Bill at
(703) 893-1456, extension 1113, or Jacqui at extension 1118.

Sincerely,
Cheiron

WIS R WS A

William R. Hallmark, ASA, EA, MAAA, FCA J R. King, FSA, EA, MAAA
Consulting Actuary Consulting Actuary

cc: Barbara Hayman
Benjie Chua-Foy
Anne Harper
Tim Doyle



